# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| (            | Case No. | SC-04-591 |             |
|--------------|----------|-----------|-------------|
| I            | MARK T   | CETZLAFF  |             |
|              | Peti     | tioner,   |             |
|              | ,        | vs.       |             |
| FLORIDA UNEM | IPLOYN   | MENT APPI | EALS COMM'N |
|              | Resp     | ondent.   |             |
|              |          |           |             |
| ON PETITION  | FOR DIS  | SCRETION  | ARY REVIEW  |
| FROM THE DI  | STRICT   | COURT OF  | F APPEAL OF |
| FLOR         | RIDA, FI | FTH DISTR | ICT         |
|              |          |           |             |

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### 1. The AWI and UAC Administrative Decisions

The Petitioner appeals the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision ("5<sup>th</sup> Dist. Ct. App.") affirming the final order entered by the UAC Appeals Referee to deny him unemployment benefits for the time period between March 24, 2002 and August 10, 2002. The Appeals Referee concluded that the Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of meeting the eligibility requirements of §§ 443.091(1)(a) and (b) of the Florida Statutes and of R. 3.013 and R. 3.015 of the Florida Administrative Code.

On January 10, 2002, the Petitioner's employer terminated him, allegedly for cause. Record at 6. The Petitioner filed a timely request for unemployment benefits with the AWI on January 27, 2002. Idem (hereinafter "Id."). The Petitioner became eligible to claim benefits on February 7, 2002, and began reporting telephonically on a bi-weekly basis as instructed by the AWI on February 13, 2002. Id.

On February 21, 2002, the Petitioner received notice that he was ineligible to claim benefits because the AWI had concluded that the Petitioner's employer had cause to discharge him. Record at 13. The Petitioner appealed the AWI's decision by filing a petition with the UAC on March 4, 2002. Record at 6. The Petitioner continued to claim benefits as instructed until March 24, 2002, when he could no longer access the AWI's telephonic reporting system. Id.

The Petitioner immediately contacted the AWI about the reporting "lock out." Id. An AWI employee allegedly told the Petitioner "not to worry" about reporting since it was not uncommon for a reporting lock out to occur while an appeal was pending. Id. The Petitioner alleges that an AWI employee assured the Petitioner that he could claim benefits for the missed reporting periods by filing paper claim forms with the AWI if the UAC determined that he was eligible to receive benefits. Id.

The UAC scheduled a hearing on the eligibility question for April 2, 2002.

Id. Due to his inability to gather witnesses prior to the April 2nd hearing date, the Petitioner appealed to the UAC for more time to prepare his case. Record at 7.

The UAC informed the Petitioner that it was too late to reschedule the hearing as the Petitioner's request arrived too late. The UAC indicated that the Petitioner could re-appeal after the UAC dismissed his claim for failing to meet a scheduled hearing date. Id.

On April 3, 2002, the UAC dismissed the Petitioner's appeal for failing to appear at the telephonic hearing. Record at 15. Shortly thereafter, the Petitioner re-filed his petition for a rehearing with the UAC. Record at 7. On June 25, 2002, the UAC determined that the Petitioner established cause for a rehearing. Record at 16-17. Accordingly, the UAC reversed the Appeals Referee's dismissal action and granted the Petitioner's request for another hearing. Id.

The UAC scheduled the additional hearing for August 8, 2002. Record at 18. On August 21, 2002, the UAC concluded that the employer's allegation of employee misconduct was hearsay and reversed its original decision to deny the Petitioner unemployment benefits. Record at 19-20. Accordingly, the UAC ordered the AWI to pay the Petitioner benefits for the period between February 13, 2002 and March 24, 2002. Id.

However, when the Petitioner became aware that the AWI did not pay benefits for the time period in question, he immediately notified the AWI. Record at 7. An AWI employee told the Petitioner that he had to document the missing time periods by completing Forms UCB-206 (Fact Finding Statement) and UCB-61 (Local Office Claim Certification).<sup>1</sup> Id.

At an unknown period of time between August 21, 2002, and August 27, 2002, the Petitioner received both sets of forms. Record at 2. The record shows that the AWI Tallahassee Office received Form UCB-206 on August 29, 2002 from the Petitioner. Id. The AWI Jacksonville Office also received a copy of the same form on September 27, 2002. Id. For reasons unknown, the UCB-61 forms were not made part of the record, but the Petitioner's testimony shows that he received the UCB-61 and UCB-206 forms and them to the AWI as instructed. Record at 45.

Despite the record, on September 5, 2002, the AWI denied the Petitioner benefits for the period between March 24, 2002 and August 10, 2002, even though

he alleges compliance with the AWI's request to complete and return the requested forms. Record at 21. The AWI's sole reason for denying the Petitioner benefits was that he had failed to comply with the eligibility requirements of \$\\$ 443.091(1)(a) and (b) of the Florida Statutes and Rules 3.013 and 3.015 of the Florida Administrative Code. Id.

The Petitioner appealed the AWI decision to the UAC; the UAC set a hearing date for October 22, 2004. Record at 22. In his testimony, the Petitioner discussed the reporting situation in depth with the Appeals Referee. Record at 38-47. The Petitioner argued that the AWI's telephonic reporting system prevented him from complying with the requirements of §§ 443.091(1)(a) and (b) of the Florida Statutes and Rules 3.013 and 3.015 of the Florida Administrative Code. Record at 38.

The Petitioner reiterated that the problem arose only after he had filed his original appeal with the UAC. <u>Id</u>. The Petitioner stated further that he had notified the AWI of the "lock out" situation on a timely basis and was told by an agency employee "not to worry" since the reporting "lock out" could occur when an appeal was pending. <u>Record</u> at 45.

The Appeals Referee did not find the Petitioner's testimony persuasive. On December 31, 2002, the UAC denied the Petitioner benefits for the time period in question. Record at 60. The Petitioner subsequently filed a timely Notice of

Appeal with the Fifth District Court of Appeals on January 27, 2003. Record at 67.

# 2. The Fifth District Court of Appeal's Decisions

Arguing <u>pro se</u>, the Petitioner alleged that the UAC erred when it denied his claim for unemployment benefits, stating that the UAC could not preclude him from receiving unemployment benefits solely due to his failure to file bi-weekly claim reports. Fla. 5th Dist. Ct. Dec, Jan 23, 2004 at 3.

Citing Dines v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Comm'n, 730 So.2d 378 (Fla. 3d Dist. Ct. App. 1999) as persuasive authority, the Petitioner argued that \$\\$ 443.091(1)(a) and (b) and Rules 3.013 and 3.015 of the Florida Administrative Code were "advisory or directory only" and that ". . . the failure to make weekly reports cannot result in the forfeiture of benefits which . . . the claimant is otherwise entitled to by law." Id.

Contrary to <u>Dines</u>, the Fifth District Court affirmed the UAC's decision to deny the Petitioner benefits for failing to comply with Fla. Stat. § 443.111(1)(b) without reaching the question of whether <u>Dines</u> was properly decided under Fla. Stat. § 443.091(a) and (b). <u>Id</u>. The court simply held that the Petitioner had "[f]ailed to prove that, but for the filing of weekly reports, he would have been entitled to receive the benefits by law." <u>Id</u>.

In reaching its decision, the Fifth District Court observed that the AWI had instructed the Petitioner to ". . . CONTINUE REPORTING ON [HIS] CLAIM UNTIL ALL PREDETERMINATIONS/APPEALS ARE RESOLVED" (Court's emphasis). Id. (accord

Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(2003)). In his Amended Motion for Rehearing, the Petitioner argued that the "continued reporting" requirement was not mandatory.

Specifically, the Petitioner asserted that the court's decision wrongly incorporated language from the newly-amended version of Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(2003), which the Florida Legislature passed on May 23, 2003, nearly three months after the Petitioner had begun the appeals process (March 4, 2002). Pet'r Am. Mot. for Rehearing at 4.

In his Amended Motion for Rehearing, the Petitioner argued that the court's conclusion that he had failed to provide an adequate transcript under <u>Applegate v.</u>

Barnett Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979)(codified by Fla. Stat.

§ 9.200(e)) was incorrect. Pet'r. Am. Mot. for Rehearing at 5. The Petitioner noted that the court had failed to take notice that a transcript had been filed with the court and pointed to the court's own docket as proof. <u>Id</u>.

Alternatively, the Petitioner pointed out that the Fifth District Court's finding that a transcript was missing from the record required the court to allow him an opportunity to supplement the record under <u>Kauffmann v. Baker</u>, 392 So.2d 13 (Fla. 4th Dist. Ct. App. 1980), <u>accord Fla. Stat. § 9.200(f)(2002)</u>. Pet'r. Am. Mot. for Rehearing at 6. Despite the Petitioner's requests, on March 1, 2004, the court denied the Petitioner's Amended Motion for Rehearing.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. <u>Dines and Fla. Stat. §§ 443.091(1)(b) and 443.111(1)(b)</u>

This Court took jurisdiction in this case in part due to a conflict existing among the Third, Fifth, and Second District Courts of Appeal on the applicability Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b). Moreover, there is also a conflict between the Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal on the applicability of Fla. Stat. § 443.111(1)(b). The Petitioner raises two principle issues under this heading for the Court to review.

First, the Petitioner argues that Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(2002) is ambiguous. Like <u>Dines</u>, there was no clear directive in the statute that a claimant should continue to file claim reports during a pending appeal. If this Court affirms the <u>Dines</u> decision, the Court can find for the Petitioner in this case as well since Fla. Stat. § 443.031(2002) requires a reviewing tribunal to construe ambiguous provisions in favor of unemployment claimants.

Second, the Petitioner argues that the relationship between Fla. Stat. §§ 443.091(1)(b)(2002) and 443.111(1)(b)(2002) is also ambiguous. In this case, the Fifth District Court read the statutes as two independent requirements while the Petitioner asserts that the two statutes should be read together. If this Court finds that the two statutes are ambiguous, the Court can also hold for the Petitioner under Fla. Stat. § 443.031(2002).

## 2. The Motion on Rehearing before the Fifth District Court

This Court also took jurisdiction in this case in part due to a conflict between the Fifth District Court and this Court's decision in Applegate v. Barnett

Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979), accord Fla. R. App. P. 9.200(e)(2002). Contrary to Barnett Bank, the Petitioner argues that the Fifth District Court erred when it failed to take notice that the Petitioner met his burden of supplying an adequate transcript under Barnett Bank and cited to the court's own docket as proof. Pet'r. Am. Mot. for Rehearing at 4.

Finally, this Court took jurisdiction in this case in part due to a conflict between the Fifth District Court's decision and the Fourth District Court's decision in Kauffmann v. Baker, 392 So.2d 13 (Fla. 4th Dist. Ct. App. 1980). Contrary to Kauffmann, accord Fla. R. App. P. 9.200(f)(2), the Fifth District Court did not allow the Petitioner an opportunity to supplement the record, even though it determined that a transcript was missing. Pet'r Am. Mot. for Rehearing at 5.

# **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A legal conclusion of the UAC may be overturned if it is clearly erroneous, Szniatkiewicz v. Unemployment Appeals Comm'n, 864 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th Dist. Ct. App. 2004). The appellate court must assure that the correct rules of law are applied, Jackson v. Unemployment Appeals Comm'n, 730 So.2d 719 (Fla. 5th Dist. Ct. App. 1999), and where the UAC has erred as a matter of law, the court is empowered to reverse its determination, Krulla v. Barnett Bank, 629 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 4th Dist Ct. App. 1993).

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IN DINES V. UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMM'N, 730 So.2d 378 (Fla.

3d Dist. Ct. App. 1999) WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THE STATUTE AMBIGUOUS, AND ALSO DUE TO ITS CONCLUSION THAT CONFORMS TO LEGISLATIVE INTENT UNDER FLA. STAT. § 443.091(1)(B)(1997)

## A. Analysis of Third District Court Decision

In <u>Dines v. Unemployment Appeals Comm'n</u>, 730 So.2d 378 (Fla. 3d Dist. Ct. App. 1999), the appellant became unemployed on July 14, 1996, and then filed a claim for unemployment compensation benefits on July 18, 1996. <u>Id</u>. Although the AWI originally denied the appellant benefits on August 12, 1996 (presumably for cause), the appellant appealed, and on September 27, 1996, the UAC reversed the AWI's decision and ordered it to pay the appellant benefits. <u>Id</u>.

Additionally, similar to the record at hand, the UAC affirmed a AWI decision which denied the appellant benefits for the time period between August 12, 1996 and September 27, 1996, when the AWI found him ineligible. <u>Id</u>. The sole basis for the AWI's ruling was that, during this period i.e., the period during which an appeal was pending, the appellant did not continue to file claims under Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(1997). <u>Id</u>. Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b) requires claimants to file weekly claim reports in order to receive unemployment benefits. Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(1997).

The appellant filed a petition with the Third District Court of Appeals.

Dines, 730 So.2d at 378. The court reversed the UAC's decision and awarded benefits for the time period at issue. Id. The court reasoned that "[b]ecause there are no rights at stake and only a non-essential mode of proceeding is prescribed, it

is apparent that, in this context, the statutory for the filing of weekly reports must be deemed to be advisory and directory only." <u>Id</u>.

The court reasoned further that the denial of benefits on this ground "is entirely erroneous both because ordering continuing claims to a tribunal which has already rejected the claimant's eligibility amounts to the prohibited requirement of performing a series of useless acts and because the failure [sic] to make the claims was an entirely harmless technicality in light of the indisputable evidence of the appellant's eligibility to receive those benefits." <u>Id</u>.

The first question this Court must address is whether Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1) (b)(1997) was clear and unambiguous at the time the appellant filed his appeal in the <u>Dines</u> case. If this Court finds that the statute was clear, then it can uphold the Second District Court's recent decision in <u>Costarell v. Unemployment Appeals</u>

<u>Comm'n</u>, 874 So.2d 43 (Fla. 2d Dist. Ct. App. 2004). Such a decision would require the Petitioner in this case to show compliance therewith.

It is important to note, however, that if this Court finds <u>Dines</u> inapplicable and declares Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b) to be plain and clear at the time the Petitioner filed his appeal, this Court must still decide another important threshold matter before considering whether the Fifth District Court ruled correctly in this case under the applicable standard of review.

Essentially, this Court must decide what the relationship is between Fla.

Stat. §§ 443.091(1)(b) and 443.111(1)(b) since the Fifth District Court's decision

raised the question as to whether §§ 443.111(1)(b) and 443.091(1)(b) should be read together, or whether each statute can force independent compliance, as the Fifth District Court's decision seems to imply.

Conversely, if this Court determines that Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(2002) was ambiguous at the time the appellant filed his appeal in <u>Dines</u>, then it can uphold the Third District Court's decision. Such a affirmation would require this Court to find in favor of the Petitioner and no further inquiry into the Fifth District Court's decision would be necessary since the court did not address the applicability of <u>Dines</u> under Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(2002).

In support of the Petitioner's argument that the Third District Court's decision was correct, the Petitioner contends, like the appellant in <u>Dines</u>, that Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(2002) was ambiguous at the time he filed his appeal. The Petitioner also maintains that the Third District Court reached a correct conclusion because its decision conforms with legislative intent.

The first rule of statutory interpretation is that courts may not resort to rules of construction unless the statute at issue is unclear and ambiguous. <u>Levin v.</u>

<u>Levin</u>, 734 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 2d Dist. Ct. App. 1999). However, when a statute is clear, there is no room for construction, <u>Ervin v. Peninsular Tel. Co.</u>, 53 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1951) or resort to extrinsic guides to construction, such as legislative history, <u>Suwannee River Water Management Dist. v. Pearson</u>, 697 So.2d 1224 (Fla. 1st Dist. Ct. App. 1997), <u>rehearing denied</u>, (Aug. 15, 1997).

At the time the appellant in <u>Dines</u> filed his appeal with the Third District Court, Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b) read:

(1) An unemployed individual shall be eligible to receive benefits with respect to any week only if the division finds that: (b) He has registered for work at, and thereafter continued to report at, the division, which shall be responsible for notification of the Florida State Employment Service in accordance with such rules as the division may prescribe; except that the division may, by rule not inconsistent with the purposes of this law, waive or alter either or both of the requirements of this subsection as to individuals attached to regular jobs; but no such rule shall conflict with s. 443.111(1). Fla. Stat. §443.091(1)(b)(1997).

However, in May, 2003, the Florida Legislature amended Fla. Stat § 443.091(1)(b) to include the very language the court in <u>Costarell</u> relied on to find the statute "plain and clear." See 2003 FL S.B. 1448 (SN), 2003 Florida Senate Bill No. 1448, Florida 105th R, (May 23, 2003); <u>Costerall</u>, 874 So.2d at 43.<sup>2</sup> The newly-amended version of Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b) now reads:

1) An unemployed individual is eligible to receive benefits for any week only if the Agency for Workforce Innovation finds that: (b) She or he has registered for work with, and subsequently continued to report to, the Agency for Workforce Innovation in accordance with its rules. These rules must not conflict with the requirement in § 443.111(1)(b) that each claimant must continue to report regardless of any appeal or pending appeal relating to her or his eligibility or disqualification for benefits (emphasis added). The Agency for Workforce Innovation may by rule waive this paragraph for individuals attached to regular jobs. These rules must not conflict with § 443.111(1)(b). Fla. Stat. 443.091(1)(b)(2003).

When the language of both versions of the statute is compared, it supports the Third District Court's decision in <u>Dines</u> that found the statute ambiguous.<sup>3</sup> Simply, the appellant had no way of knowing whether he should continue to file claims during his pending appeal under the 1997 version of Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b). <u>Dines</u>, 730 So.2d at 378.

This conclusion is reasonable in light of the fact that if the statute was clear and unambiguous at the time the appellant filed his appeal, there would have been no reason for the Florida Legislature to later amend the statute. Today, the statute is clear and unambiguous; claimants now know that they have to file claim reports during a pending appeal. Accord, Costarell, 874 So.2d at 43. However, at the time the appellant in Dines filed his appeal, no such clarity in the law existed.

Like the appellant in <u>Dines</u>, the Petitioner also did not know whether he should continue to file claims during his pending appeal under the 2002 version of Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b). Note that the language of both versions of the statutes are virtually identical. The "continuous" reporting language which one finds in the 2003 version of the statute is absent in both drafts applicable to <u>Dines</u> and the Petitioner in this case. <u>Compare</u>, Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(1997) <u>with</u> Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(2002). Accordingly, the Petitioner asserts that the statute was ambiguous at the time he filed his appeal.

If this Court finds that Fla. Stat. § 443.091(1)(b)(2002) was ambiguous at the time the appellant filed his appeal, the next question this Court must address is

whether Third District Court's conclusion conforms with legislative intent. The Petitioner argues that the Third District Court's conclusion is consistent with legislative intent since its decision is consistent with the legislative mandate that Fla. Stat. § 443.031(2002) prescribes, i.e., to be construed liberally.

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