IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC04-591

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF
A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
FIFTH DISTRICT
866 So. 2D 730

MARK TETZLAFF

PETITIONER,

v.

FLORIDA UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION,

RESPONDENT.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT FLORIDA UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION

JOHN D. MAHER
FLA. BAR NO. 193352
SUITE 300, WEBSTER BUILDING
2671 EXECUTIVE CENTER CIRCLE, WEST
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-0681
(850) 487-2685

DEPUTY GENERAL COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT FLORIDA UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

This is a petition for discretionary review of Tetzlaff v.

Unemployment Appeals Commission, 866 So.2d 730 (Fla. 5th DCA

2004) pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure

9.030(a)(2)(A) and 9.120. Tetzlaff affirmed a final
administrative order of the Unemployment Appeals Commission.

Petitioner here was the appellant before the Commission.

Petitioner seeks the Court's review of the Fifth DCA's
decision on the grounds that it expressly and directly
conflicts with decisions of this Court in Applegate v. Barnett

Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1980), the Fourth

DCA's decision in Kauffmann v. Baker, 392 So.2d 13 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1980), and the Third DCA's decision in Dines v. Florida
Unemployment Appeals Commission, 730 So.2d 378 (Fla. 3d DCA

1999).

The case originated with the unemployment compensation claim of Mark Tetzlaff (hereinafter referred to as the claimant). The claimant was initially held disqualified for benefits; he appealed the decision and requested a hearing before an unemployment compensation appeals referee. The claimant was advised by the February 21, 2002 disqualifying determination:

IF UNEMPLOYED YOU MUST CONTINUE REPORTING ON YOUR CLAIM UNTIL ALL REDETERMINATIONS/APPEALS ARE RESOLVED.

(Appendix Exhibit A.). The March 22, 2002 hearing notice also instructed:

Claimants should continue filing claims as instructed while the appeal is pending.

(Appendix Exhibit B). For reasons unrelated to this proceeding, the appeal was dismissed, but later reinstated. The claimant's appeal was eventually heard and a decision was rendered in his favor. The claimant then learned that he was entitled to benefits only for the period he had continued to file on his claim as instructed. He again appealed and attended a hearing. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Referee rendered a decision. The decision contains the following findings of fact:

The claimant was unemployed and filed a claim for benefits effective January 27, 2002. The claimant was provided with reporting instructions. The claimant reported on his claim by telephone until March 27, 2002. The claimant was unable to access the system after that date. The claimant received an adverse decision on his claim, filed an appeal to the decision, and discontinued claiming weeks pending the outcome of the hearing. A hearing date was scheduled for the claimant and he was instructed to continue reporting on his claim while the appeal was pending. The claimant, at some time, was mailed continued claim forms for the weeks he had not The claimant returned the documents to reported. claim weeks for payment for the weeks he had not

previously claimed after receiving a positive outcome from his hearing held on August 8, 2002.

(R.56) (Appendix Ex. C).

In the portion of the decision designated "Conclusions of Law," the referee stated:

The regulations of the Division provide that when a claimant fails to report as scheduled, the Division will accept a late report only if the claimant files such report within 14 days of the scheduled report date. If the report is not made within 14 days of the scheduled report, the claim shall be reopened effective the first day of the week in which the report is made.

The record reflects that the claimant failed to report on his claim as instructed and did not report within the fourteen days of the scheduled report date. Accordingly, the claimant is ineligible for benefits from March 24, 2002 through August 10, 2002 when his claim was reopened.

Consideration was given to the claimant's contention that he should receive payments for the additional weeks requested because he could not claim the weeks The claimant's own testimony reflects by telephone. he was aware he could claim weeks using another method but choose not to do so because it could be considered a waste of time if the appeals decision was not in his favor. Consideration was also given to the claimant's contention that he followed the agency's instruction when reporting on his claim, however the claimant's testimony reflects that he was originally told to report weekly. For these reasons the claimant's contentions are respectfully not accepted.

(Appendix Exhibit C).

The claimant was granted benefits for only the period of time between February 2002 and March 23, 2002. Benefits for

the period of time between March 24, 2002 and August 10, 2002 (the period of time during which the appeal was pending) were denied because the claimant failed to continue reporting on his claim as he had been repeatedly instructed. Upon review to the Unemployment Appeals Commission, the Commission affirmed the referee's decision denying the additional benefits.

The claimant appealed the Commission's order to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Unemployment Appeals Commission is a statutory respondent to appeals taken from its orders to the district courts of appeal. See §443.151(4)(e), Fla. Stat. The Commission participated in the appeal by filing a brief on behalf of the Commission. In Tetzlaff v. Unemployment Appeals Commission, 866 So.2d 730 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), the Fifth DCA affirmed the Commission's denial of additional benefits. The court also professed to distinguish the issue before it from the issue decided in Dines v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Commission, 730 So.2d 378 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). The parties, however, agree that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflicts with Dines.

The claimant, in proper person, filed an appeal from the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Court treated the claimant's appeal as a Notice to Invoke Discretionary

Jurisdiction. The claimant is now represented by counsel.

The parties have submitted briefs on jurisdiction. The Court has entered an order accepting jurisdiction and dispensing with oral argument. This Answer Brief on the Merits is being filed in response to the claimant/petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida's unemployment compensation program provides economic assistance to certain unemployed persons, but it is not intended to subsidize unemployment. Persons claiming benefits must demonstrate, among other things, that they are actively seeking employment. See §443.091(1)(c)1., Fla. Stat. (2002); Fla. Admin. Code R. 60BB-3.021. To monitor the activities of claimants, the agency requires them to regularly report on their claims, either in person, by mail or telephone. See §§443.091(1)(a), 443.111(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (2002). Claimants who fail to report for more than fourteen days are ineligible to receive benefits for the weeks that claims were not made. Id. See Fla. Admin. Code R. 60BB-3.015(3)(b).

The claimant in this case received an adverse determination on his claim. He appealed to a Referee and eventually presented his case at a hearing that resulted in a favorable decision. The claimant, however, disregarded instructions to continue reporting on his claim.

Consequently, the claimant was ruled ineligible for benefits during the weeks he failed to claim. The claimant appealed that ruling, but it was affirmed by the Unemployment Appeals Commission.

Upon review pursuant to the claimant's appeal, the Fifth DCA in Tetzlaff v. Unemployment Appeals Commission, 866 So.2d 730 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), affirmed the Commission's order denying

benefits for the period in question. The parties agree that the court's opinion conflicts with Dines v. Florida
Unemployment Appeals Commission, 730 So.2d 378 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). Dines held that the statutory requirement applied by the Commission in the instant case and affirmed by the Fifth DCA was not mandatory and could not serve to deny benefits to a claimant who failed to report on his claim during the pendency of an appeal. Dines held that the "failure to make the claims was an entirely harmless technicality." 730 So.2d at 379. Dines stated that the statute and rule amounted to a "prohibited requirement of performing a series of useless acts" and was "advisory or directory only." Id. Finally, the court described the statutory requirement as "only a nonessential mode of proceeding." Id. The Fifth DCA disagreed and applied the statutory penalty.

The claimant argues that <u>Dines</u> should be approved and <u>Tetzlaff</u> should be quashed. The claimant argues that <u>Dines</u> and <u>Savage v. Macy's East, Inc.</u>, 719 So.2d 1208 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), on which it relies, were based on a determination that Section 443.091(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1997) & (2002), were ambiguous. (Initial Brief at 16). The cited pages of the opinions do not support that argument. Both <u>Dines</u> and <u>Savage</u> demonstrate that the requirements of the statute are unambiguous. Both decisions simply and clearly expressed disagreement with the wisdom of the statute and they refused to enforce its plain meaning.

The claimant does not address the real conflict between the two decisions. The conflict in opinions is whether the statute and rule are mandatory and enforceable as found by the Fifth DCA or merely advisory and unenforceable as found by the Third DCA. The Court's jurisdiction is needed to resolve this conflict.

ARGUMENT ISSUE I

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE CLAIMANT IS INELIGIBLE FOR BENEFITS BECAUSE HE FAILED TO REPORT ON HIS CLAIM AS REQUIRED BY LAW. THE CONFLICTING RULING BY THE THIRD DCA WAS WRONG AND MUST BE DISAPPROVED.

Chapter 443, Florida Statutes, and Florida Administrative Code Rule Chapters 60BB-2 through 60BB-7 govern claims for unemployment compensation benefits. Section 443.091(1), Florida Statutes (2002), applies to this case and provides, in pertinent part:

Benefit eligibility conditions.--

- (1) An unemployed individual shall be eligible to receive benefits with respect to any week only if the division finds that:
- (a) She or he has made a claim for benefits with respect to such week in accordance with such rules as the division may prescribe.
- (b) She or he has registered for work at, and thereafter continued to report at, the division, which shall be responsible for notification of the Agency for Workforce Innovation in accordance with such rules as the division may prescribe; except that the division may, by rule not inconsistent with the purposes of this law, waive or alter either or both of the requirements of this subsection as to individuals attached to regular jobs; but no such rule shall conflict with s. 443.111(1).

In addition, Section 443.111(1), Florida Statutes (2002),
provides:

Payment of Benefits

(1) MANNER OF PAYMENT. -- Benefits shall be payable from the fund in accordance with such rules as the

division may prescribe, subject to the following requirements:

. . . .

(b) Each claimant shall report in the manner prescribed by the division to certify for benefits which are paid and shall continue to report at least biweekly to receive unemployment benefits and to attest to the fact that she or he is able and available for work, has not refused suitable work, and is seeking work and, if she or he has worked, to report earnings from such work.

As a result of a governmental reorganization, the Division of Unemployment Compensation was replaced by the Agency for Workforce Innovation. Rules promulgated by the Agency for Workforce Innovation provide that claimants may report on their claims in-person, by mail or by electronic means, such as telephone. See Fla. Admin. Code R. 60BB-3.015. The agency will accept late reports, provided they are filed within 14 days of the scheduled reporting date. Florida Administrative Code Rule 60BB-3.015(3)(b) provides:

(b) Late Reports. If a report is not made within 14 days following the scheduled report date, as designated by the Agency, the claim shall be reopened effective the first day of the week in which the report is made.

Although the claimant had been given written instructions that he needed to continue reporting during the pendency of the appeal, he did not report on his claim between March 24, 2002 and August 10, 2002.

Dines v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Commission, 730

So.2d 378 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), also involved a claimant who ceased reporting on his claim while an appeal was pending. The court acknowledged and quoted the statutory and rule authorities discussed above, but nonetheless held the claimant Dines to be eligible for benefits during the period he failed to file claims. The court offered the following explanation for its extraordinary ruling:

We now hold, as we did in dictum in Savage v. Macy's East, Inc., 719 So.2d 1208, 1209-10 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), review denied, (Fla. Feb. 11, 1999), that the denial of benefits on this ground is entirely erroneous both because ordering continuing claims to a tribunal which has already rejected the claimant's eligibility amounts to the prohibited requirement of performing a series of useless acts, . . . and because the failure formally to make the claims was an entirely harmless technicality in light of indisputable evidence of Ms. Savage's eligibility for those benefits. . . . Because no rights are at stake, . . . and only a non-essential mode of proceeding is prescribed, . . . it is apparent that, in this context, the statutory requirement for the filing of weekly reports must be deemed to be advisory or directory only. . . . In the admitted absence of any prejudice to the Commission or the employer, therefore, the failure to make them cannot result in the forfeiture of benefits to which the unemployed applicant is otherwise entitled by law.

Dines, 730 So.2d at 379), quoting Savage v. Macy's East, Inc.,
719 So.2d 1208, 1209-10 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), review denied, 729
So.2d 391 (Fla. 1999), (citations omitted). The court did not

rule the legislation unconstitutional, but it did treat it as meaningless.

The Fifth DCA acknowledged <u>Dines</u>, but did not follow its rationale. Instead, the court affirmed the agency's ruling that the claimant Tetzlaff was ineligible during the period he failed to report on his claim. The court's ruling directly conflicts with <u>Dines</u>' ruling that the agency requirements were "advisory or directory only," or that they required claimants to "perform [] a series of useless acts." <u>Dines</u>, 730 So.2d at 379. Although the court stated that <u>Dines</u> was distinguishable from the case before it, it did not clearly explain why.

Moreover, this case and <u>Dines</u> involved the same legal issues and factual circumstances.

The claimant argues that, at least when <u>Dines</u> was decided, the statutory requirement was ambiguous. The argument is without merit. The statute and rule require all claimants to report on their claims. Late reports are not accepted if more than fourteen days' late. There is no ambiguity. Moreover, The Third DCA did not express any concern about ambiguity. In <u>Dines</u> and <u>Savage v. Macy's East, Inc.</u>, 719 So.2d 1208, 1209-10 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), <u>review denied</u>, 729 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1999), which it quoted, the Third DCA expressed a thorough understanding of what the statute purported to require of claimants. The court simply and emphatically disagreed with the wisdom of the legislation. The court refused to enforce the legislature's obvious intent.

The <u>Dines</u> rationale was effectively rejected by the Fifth DCA. The claimant's situation is no different from <u>Dines</u>. Unless the Court is willing to agree that the statutory requirement is meaningless and unenforceable, it must disapprove of <u>Dines</u>. The opinion of the Fifth DCA under review was correctly decided and must be affirmed.

Shortly after the Fifth DCA entered its decision in this case, the Second DCA decided Costarell v. Unemployment Appeals Commission, 874 So.2d 43 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), pet. for rev.,

No. SC04-1429 (Fla. July 19, 2004). Costarell involved the same factual circumstances and legal issues that are involved in this case and Dines. Like this case, Costarell, affirmed the order of the Unemployment Appeals Commission denying benefits to an unemployment compensation claimant who ceased reporting on his claimant while an appeal was pending.

Costarell, however, went further than this case. It not only declined to follow Dines, but also expressly disagreed with it and certified the conflict to this Court. Briefing has been completed in Costarell. A motion requesting oral argument is pending

Although the statute itself was not ambiguous, <u>Dines</u> created concerns that led to legislation. <u>See</u> Ch. 2003-36, §§23, 25, Laws of Fla. (claimants must continue to report regardless of any appeal pending relating to eligibility or disqualifications of his claim. (R.4-5). Chapter 2003-36, Laws of Florida, was approved by the Governor on May 23, 2003,

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